
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
Notice of November 13, 2019 Commission Meeting and Agenda 

Page 1 of 2 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 

COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
http://ethics.nv.gov 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

NAME OF ORGANIZATION: NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
DATE & TIME OF MEETING:  Wednesday, November 13, 2019 at 9:30 a.m. 
  

PLACE OF MEETING:  This meeting will be held at the following locations: 
 

Nevada Legislative Building 

401 S. Carson Street 

Room 2134 

Carson City, NV 89701 
 

and via video-conference to: 
 

Grant Sawyer State Building 

555 E. Washington Avenue  

Room 4412E 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
 

AGEND A 
NOTES: 
 

▪ Two or more agenda items may be combined for consideration. 
 

▪ At any time, an agenda item may be taken out of order, removed or delayed. 
 

▪ Public comment will be accepted at the beginning of the public meeting and again 
before the conclusion of the public meeting.  Comment and/or testimony by the public 
may be limited to three (3) minutes.  No action may be taken on any matter referred 
to in remarks made as public comment.  Members of the public may also submit 
written public comment to the Commission at: NCOE@ethics.nv.gov.  

 

 1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 
2. Public Comment. Comment by any member of the public will be limited 

to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

3. Approval of Minutes of the October 16, 2019 Commission Meeting. 

http://ethics.nv.gov/
mailto:NCOE@ethics.nv.gov


Nevada Commission on Ethics 
Notice of November 13, 2019 Commission Meeting and Agenda 

Page 2 of 2 
 

For 
Possible 
Action 

4. Consideration and approval of Proposed Stipulated Agreement in Ethics 
Complaint No. 19-021C regarding Joel Dunn, Former Executive 
Director, Carson City Culture & Tourism Authority, submitted pursuant 
to NRS 281A.770. 

• The Commission may discuss and consider the Proposed Stipulated 
Agreement in a closed session pursuant to NRS 281A.750. 

• The Commission will take action on the item in an open session. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

5. Report by the Executive Director on agency status and operations and 
possible direction thereon. Items to be discussed include: 

• Education and Outreach by the Commission 

• 2020 Calendar Year Meeting Schedule 

• FY20 Budget Update, including Legislative request for additional 
resources to accommodate increased case load 

 
6. Commissioner comments and identification of future agenda items. No 

action will be taken under this agenda item. 

 
7. Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the 

public may be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under 
this agenda item. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

8. Adjournment. 

NOTES: 
❖ The Commission is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for any member of the public who has a 

disability and wishes to attend the meeting. If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please 
notify the Nevada Commission on Ethics, in writing at 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada 
89703; via email at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469 as far in advance as possible. 

❖ To request an advance copy of the supporting materials for any agenda item, contact Executive Director 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469. 

❖ This Agenda and supporting materials are posted and available not later than the 3rd working day before the 
meeting at the Commission’s office, 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada, or on the Commission’s 
website at www.ethics.nv.gov.  A copy also will be available at the meeting location on the meeting day. 

 
This Notice of Public Meeting and Agenda was posted in compliance with NRS 241.020 before 9:00 a.m. on 
the third working day before the meeting at the following locations: 

•Nevada Commission on Ethics, 704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204, Carson City 

•Nevada Commission on Ethics' website: http://ethics.nv.gov 

•Nevada Public Notice website: http://notice.nv.gov 

•Nevada Legislative Counsel Bureau website: https://www.leg.state.nv.us  

•State Library & Archives Building, 100 North Stewart Street, Carson City 

•Blasdel Building, 209 E. Musser Street, Carson City 

•Washoe County Administration Building, 1001 East 9th Street, Reno 

•Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 E. Washington Ave., Las Vegas 

mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
http://www.ethics.nv.gov/
http://ethics.nv.gov/
http://notice.nv.gov/
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/


Agenda Item 3 



Page 1 of 5 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 
 

MINUTES 
of the meeting of the 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

The Commission on Ethics held a public meeting on 
Wednesday, October 16, 2019, at 9:30 a.m. 

at the following location: 
 

State of Nevada 

Commission on Ethics Office 

704 W. Nye Lane 

Suite 204 

Carson City, NV 89703 

 

 
These minutes constitute a summary of the above proceedings of the Nevada 

Commission on Ethics. A recording of the meeting is available for public inspection at the 
Commission’s office.  
 

1.  Call to Order and Roll Call. 
 

 Chair Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. appeared in Carson City and called the meeting to order at 9:30 
a.m. Also appearing in Carson City were Commissioners Brian Duffrin, Philip K. (P.K.) O’Neill and 
Kim Wallin, CPA. Appearing telephonically were Vice-Chair Keith A. Weaver, Esq. and 
Commissioners Barbara Gruenewald, Esq., Teresa Lowry, Esq. and Amanda Yen, Esq. Present 
for Commission staff in Carson City were Executive Director Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., 
Commission Counsel Tracy L. Chase, Esq., Associate Counsel Casey Gilham, Esq., Senior Legal 
Researcher Darci Hayden, Investigator Erron Terry, and Executive Assistant Kari Pedroza.  
 

The pledge of allegiance was conducted. 
 

2.  Public Comment.  
 
Written Public Comment was submitted by Tina Trenner. See attached.  
 

3. Approval of Minutes of the August 21, 2019 Commission Meeting. 
 
Chair Lau stated that all Commissioners were present for the August meeting and may 

participate in this item. 
 
Commissioner Wallin moved to accept the August 21, 2019 Minutes as presented. 

Commissioner Duffrin seconded the motion. The Motion was put to a vote and carried 
unanimously. 

  

 

http://ethics.nv.gov/


 

Page 2 of 5  

4. Discussion and consideration of Proposed Stipulation regarding Consolidated Ethics 
Complaints, Case Nos. 19-026C and 19-027C (Blundo). (Portions of this Item may be 
exempt from Nevada’s Open Meeting Law, See Notes) 

 
Chair Lau stated Review Panel Members Duffrin, Lowry, and Yen were precluded from 

participating in this matter.  
 
Chair Lau asked the parties in the Complaint to identify themselves for the record. 

Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson appeared before the Commission in this matter and Brian 
R. Hardy, Esq. appeared telephonically to represent Subject Leo Blundo, who did not appear. 

 
Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson provided a brief overview of the Proposed Stipulated 

Agreement which would resolve two Ethics Complaint Cases concerning subject Leo Blundo, Nye 
County Commissioner. Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson summarized that both Complaints 
alleged Nye County Commissioner Blundo violated the Ethics Law when he used his public 
position to secure services, favors and/or unwarranted preferences or advantages for himself, his 
private business and/or his fiancé. Specifically, the Complaints alleged that Blundo improperly 
used his public position as a County Commissioner by requesting that his fiancé be appointed to 
the Pahrump Tourism Advisory Committee (PTAC) Board and requesting that PTAC feature all 
businesses in Pahrump, including local restaurants such as his own.  

 
Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson informed the Commission that the Proposed 

Stipulation Agreement dismisses the allegations associated with Commissioner Blundo’s attempt 
to request or secure an appointment to the PTAC Board for his fiancé as there was insufficient 
evidence to support the violation. However, the Stipulated Agreement would find a single non-
willful violation of the Ethics Law implicating NRS 281A.400(1), (2), (4), (7) and (9) for Blundo’s 
conduct related to the use of his official position to influence subordinates in a manner related to 
his private restaurant business. She stated that the agreement confirms that the Subject now 
understands that it is improper for him to use government time or his position as a County 
Commissioner to make statements or request services/favors in a public capacity that may affect 
his personal interests. In reaching the resolution that Commissioner Blundo’s actions did not 
constitute a willful violation, the Executive Director noted several mitigating factors which are 
outlined in the Proposed Stipulation, including that Blundo’s conduct did not result in a financial 
benefit and that he had cooperated in the investigation and had no prior Ethics violations on his 
record. She concluded her presentation by advising the Commission that the Stipulated 
Agreement signified the Commission’s public admonishment of Blundo’s conduct and that she 
believed the resolution was reasonable and fair.                                                                                            

 
 Brian R. Hardy, Esq., on behalf of Subject Blundo, reiterated that Commissioner Blundo 

recognized no financial benefit and he expressed his appreciation to the Commission staff for 
their diligence. 

 
Commissioner Wallin moved to accept the terms of the Stipulated Agreement as 

presented and directed Commission Counsel to finalize it in appropriate form. Commissioner 
Gruenewald seconded the Motion.  

 
The Motion was put to a vote and carried as follows: 

 
Chair Lau:    Aye. 
Vice-Chair Weaver:   Aye. 
Commissioner Duffrin:  Abstain. 
Commissioner Gruenewald:  Aye. 

 Commissioner Lowry:   Abstain.  
Commissioner O’Neill:  Aye. 

 Commissioner Wallin:   Aye. 
 Commissioner Yen:   Abstain. 



 

Page 3 of 5  

 
5. Presentation and approval of the Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Report prepared by the 

Executive Director pursuant to NAC 281A.180(2). 
 

Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson referred the Commission to the updated draft of the 
Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Report provided in the meeting materials and informed them that 
Commissioner feedback from the August meeting had been incorporated into the presented 
report. She went over the changes with the Commission and highlighted the addition of the recent 
national study in which the Commission received a ranking of 8th in the Country for its enforcement 
and transparency. She also noted that the ranking was based on FY18 data, and had it included 
the data from FY19 with the increased case load and enforcement, the ranking likely would have 
been higher.   

 
Commissioner Wallin asked some questions regarding the new charts and Executive 

Director Nevarez-Goodson assured her that the numbers would be reviewed again prior to 
publication.  

 
Commissioner Duffrin commented that he views this report as a good marketing tool and 

believes it is a helpful guide showcasing the work of the Commission this year. He shared his 
appreciation for Commissioner Wallin reviewing the numbers provided in the report.  

 
Commissioner Wallin suggested holding a press release after the publication to highlight 

the Commission’s work and accomplishments.  
 
Commissioner O’Neill asked whether staff distributes the report to other agencies or the 

Governor’s office, and the Executive Director replied that the report was provided to the 
Governor’s office and the Legislative Counsel Bureau in previous years.  

 
Commissioner Wallin moved to approve the Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Report as presented 

with the few modifications discussed by the Commission. Commissioner Yen seconded the 
Motion. The Motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 

 
6. Report and recommendations by Executive Director on agency status and operations and 

possible direction thereon. Items to be discussed include, without limitation: 

• Upcoming Commission Meetings 

• Quarterly Case Status Update & Resource Needs 

• FY20 Budget Status 
 

Upcoming Commission Meetings:  Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson confirmed that 
the next Commission Meeting would be on November 13, a week earlier than the normal third 
Wednesday of the month to accommodate holiday schedules. She provided that an adjudicatory 
hearing would take up the majority of that meeting and that Southern Commissioners may be 
asked to travel to Northern Nevada to attend. She also informed the Commission that the 
December Meeting would be cancelled due to the holidays and staff travel for the annual COGEL 
conference. Commission Counsel Chase noted that there may also be an Advisory Hearing at 
the November meeting.  

 
Quarterly Case Status Update & Resource Needs: Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson 

provided a quarterly update on the case status which allowed for a bird’s eye view of the number 
of cases being reviewed and investigated.  She pointed out that the number of Ethics Complaints 
filed remained steady and the number of Complaints without waivers of statutory time frame for 
investigation seemed to be increasing. The Executive Director detailed the shortfalls in delaying 
investigations, including lapses in memories and access to records. Accordingly, the Executive 
Director transitioned to the next Agenda Item regarding the need for additional resources. 



 

Page 4 of 5  

  
 FY20 Budget Status: Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson informed the Commission that 
the allotted budget for court reporting expenses had already been used for the Fiscal Year, for 
transcription of investigatory interviews and discovery demands under the increased case load. 
She anticipates that the Commission will need to request additional funds from the Interim 
Finance Committee (IFC). The Executive Director noted that while appearing at IFC, the 
Commission might also consider requesting additional assistance with its demands for 
investigatory resources through a temporary six-month contracted attorney/ investigator position.  

 
Commissioner Wallin asked if, based on case load, it might be more prudent to request a 

permanent position instead of going before IFC on more than one occasion. Executive Director 
Nevarez-Goodson replied that she would seek a permanent position when building the budget for 
the next biennium and provided a background on the similar approach taken in 2012 to acquire 
the Associate Counsel position in 2013.  

 
Commissioner Duffrin agreed that Commissioner Wallin’s concern was valid and 

suggested the position request be for a longer term than six months.  
 
Commissioner O’Neill concurred with Commissioner Duffrin and offered that tracking 

hours spent on Investigations could assist with funding requests. He suggested the request for 
an additional position be more directed to an additional Investigator than an Attorney. Executive 
Director Nevarez-Goodson responded that the Commission needs a person qualified to prepare 
legal reports and recommendations based on investigations.  

 
Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson noted that the total funds requested would come 

from the State General Fund for the State’s 28% portion and the Local Governments’ 78% portion 
would come from the reserves in the Commission’s budget. 

 
In continuing her report on the Budget, Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson provided an 

update on the Enterprise Information Technology Services (EITS) conversion and informed the 
Commissioners that the server was in the process of being converted to the State’s virtual system. 
She further provided that the EITS desktop team would be setting up the new computer equipment 
soon and would let Commissioners know when to bring in their tablets to be updated through 
EITS. 

 
As a final matter, Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson recognized the appointment of 

Casey Gillham as the Commission’s new Associate Counsel and welcomed him to the team. 
 
Commissioner Gruenewald moved to accept the Executive Director’s agency status report 

as presented. Commissioner Lowry seconded the motion. Executive Director Nevarez-Goodson 
asked whether the motion included an approval for her to request additional funds before IFC as 
discussed and the Chair affirmed.  

 
The motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 
 

7. Commissioner comments and identification of future agenda items. No action will be 
taken under this agenda item. 
 
Commissioner Wallin informed the Commission that is was Global International Ethics 

Day.  
 

8. Public Comment. 
 

No public comment. 
 



 

Page 5 of 5  

9. Adjournment. 
 
Commissioner Duffrin made a motion to adjourn the public meeting. Commissioner O’Neill 

seconded the motion. The Motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:25 a.m. 
 

 
Minutes prepared by:     Minutes approved November 13, 2019: 
 
/s/ Kari Pedroza  /s/ Cheryl A. Lau_________  
Kari Pedroza  Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. 
Executive Assistant      Chair 
 
/s/ Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson  /s/ Keith A. Weaver_ _____ 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq.   Keith A. Weaver, Esq. 
Executive Director   Vice-Chair      



Agenda Item 4 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 1 of 9 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

 

In re Joel Dunn, Former Executive 
Director, Carson City Culture & 
Tourism Authority, State of Nevada, 
 
                                  Subject. / 

Ethics Complaint
Case No. 19-021C 

       
                   

                                                                
 

PROPOSED 
STIPULATED AGREEMENT 

 
 1. PURPOSE: This Stipulated Agreement resolves Ethics Complaint Case No. 

19-021C (“Complaint”) before the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) 

concerning Joel Dunn (“Dunn”), the former Executive Director for the Carson City Culture 

& Tourism Authority (“CTA”), and serves as the final opinion in this matter. 

 2. JURISDICTION: At all material times, Dunn served as an employee of the 

CTA and was a public employee as defined in NRS 281A.150. The Ethics in Government 

Law (“Ethics Law”) set forth in NRS Chapter 281A gives the Commission jurisdiction over 

current and former elected and appointed public officers and public employees whose 

conduct is alleged to have violated the provisions of NRS Chapter 281A. See NRS 

281A.180 and 281A.280. Accordingly, the Commission has jurisdiction over Dunn in this 

matter.  

 3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY BEFORE COMMISSION 

a. On or about March 25, 2019, the Commission received the Complaint from a 

member of the public alleging that Dunn violated the Ethics Law.  On or about 

May 9, 2019, the Commission issued its Order on Jurisdiction and 

Investigation, directing the Executive Director to investigate whether Dunn 

improperly used his public position to recommend changes to CTA policies that 

would affect his private interests upon retirement and/or to seek a private 

consulting agreement with the CTA upon his retirement, which conduct 

implicated NRS 281A.400(1), (2), (3), (5), (9) and (10), NRS 281A.410(1)(b), 

NRS 281A.430 and NRS 281A.550(5). Additionally, the Commission directed 

an investigation into Dunn’s alleged failure to disclose his pecuniary interests 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 2 of 9 

and commitments in a private capacity to the interests of others and abstain 

from participating during the CTA Board meetings on matters related to the 

retirement policies and contract, which conduct implicated the disclosure and 

abstention requirements of NRS 281A.420(1) and (3).  

b. On May 9, 2019, the Executive Director issued a Notice of Complaint and 

Investigation pursuant to NRS 281A.720 and Dunn was provided an 

opportunity to provide a written response to the Complaint. 

c. Dunn, through his legal counsel, Mike Pavlakis, Esq., provided a written 

response on or about June 10, 2019.  

d. On July 18, 2019, the Executive Director presented a recommendation relating 

to just and sufficient cause to a three-member review panel pursuant to NRS 

281A.720. 

e. A Panel Determination issued on August 5, 2019: 

1) Determined that credible evidence supported just and sufficient cause 

for the Commission to render an opinion in the matter regarding the 

alleged violations of NRS 281A.400(1), (2), (3) and (10), NRS 

281A.420(1), NRS 281A.430 and NRS 281A.550(5) related to Dunn’s 

conduct associated with policy changes he presented to the CTA Board 

of Directors (“Board”) on July 11, 2017 and Contract No. 2017-1013, 

which Dunn presented to the Board for approval on October 9, 2017; 

and 

2) Referred the matter to the Commission for further proceedings. 

f. In lieu of an adjudicatory hearing before the Commission, Dunn and the 

Commission now enter into this Stipulated Agreement. 

 4. STIPULATED FACTS: At all material times, the following facts were 

relevant to this matter:1  

a. Dunn is the former Executive Director of the Carson City Culture & Tourism 

Authority (“CTA”) where he was employed from May 30, 2013 to October 12, 

                                                 
1 Stipulated Facts do not constitute part of the “Investigative File” as that term is defined by NRS 281A.755. 
All statutory and common law confidentiality protections afforded to the Investigative File shall remain and 
are not affected by this Stipulated Agreement. 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 3 of 9 

2017. Prior to his employment at the CTA, Dunn was employed by the City of 

Carson City. 

b. Pursuant to NRS 281A.160 and 281A.180, Dunn is a public officer. 

c. Dunn commenced employment with the CTA without a break in service after 

his employment with Carson City.  

d. In 1965, the Carson City Board of Supervisors, by resolution, created the CTA 

Board to carry out the powers granted under NRS 244A.559, including the 

development of marketing and public relations plans, establishing policies and 

procedures, holding monthly meetings to approve operating bills and other 

activities under its authority. 

e. Pursuant to an interlocal agreement, the CTA receives certain administrative 

and professional services, including legal services, human resources 

assistance and financial administration of CTA funds, from Carson City in 

exchange for a percentage of the transient lodging tax collected by the CTA.   

f. The CTA Board of Directors (“CTA Board”) consists of five members who are 

appointed by the Carson City Board of Supervisors. The CTA Board is 

responsible for establishing the policies and procedures applicable to the CTA’s 

staff of six employees, including a benefits package. 

Retirement/Benefits Policies 

g. The CTA Board adopted a Policies and Procedures Manual in 2010 (“2010 

Policy Manual”), outlining the compensation and benefits policies applicable to 

all CTA employees. The 2010 Policy Manual included benefits for payment of 

a portion of accrued sick leave upon termination/retirement for employees with 

a minimum of 10 years of employment with the CTA. The 2010 Policy Manual 

did not provide for retiree health insurance and did not allow a CTA employee 

to “carry-over” years of service from employment with Carson City or any other 

government employer. 

h. On November 21, 2013, the Carson City Board of Supervisors adopted 

Resolution No. 2013-R-44 (“2013 Resolution”), which gave unclassified 

employees of the City increased medical retirement subsidies and changed the 

sick leave payout provisions. 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 4 of 9 

i. On or about July 5, 2017, at the direction of CTA Board Chair Jonathan 

Boulware, Dunn prepared an Agenda Report for Agenda Item 10 of the July 10, 

2017 CTA Board meeting, which included a recommendation to the Board that 

the 2010 Policy Manual be revised to mirror the benefits that had been provided 

to Carson City employees pursuant to the 2013 Resolution. According to the 

Agenda Report, the only proposed revision that did not mirror the 2013 

Resolution was the addition of a provision that would allow CTA employees 

who transfer employment from the City of Carson City (with no break in service) 

to retain their years of service from the City. The Agenda Item was approved 

unanimously by the Board (“2017 Policy Manual”). 

j. Under the terms of the 2010 Policy Manual, Dunn would not have been eligible 

to receive any payment for his 521 hours of accrued sick leave upon retirement, 

and he would not have been entitled to receive any subsidy from the CTA to 

cover the cost of retiree health insurance for himself and his spouse.  

k. Under the terms of the 2017 Policy Manual, an employee with 20 or more years 

of service would receive 75% of his accrued sick leave (totaling $24,349.70) 

and subsidies of 90% and 50% (worth approximately $1,000 per month) to 

offset the cost of retiree health insurance for himself and his spouse, 

respectively. Upon his retirement, Dunn ultimately received this pay-out. 

l. Dunn did not publicly disclose during the July 10, 2017 CTA Board meeting that 

the proposed policy changes would have a significant financial impact on the 

value of the benefits he would receive upon his retirement. Specifically, Dunn 

did not publicly disclose that the Carson City service carry-over provision would 

apply to him and allow him to receive a significant payout of accrued sick leave 

and a retiree medical subsidy.  

Contract After Retirement 

m. On September 11, 2017, the CTA Board held a public meeting at which the 

Board approved the creation of a transition plan for the CTA Executive Director 

position. Subsequently, CTA Board Chair Boulware and Member Abowd met 

with Dunn regarding the need for a continuity of service, including the 

recruitment of and a transition to a new Executive Director. 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 5 of 9 

n. In accordance with the direction he received from Board Chair Boulware and 

Board Member Abowd, Dunn obtained a template for a professional services 

contract from the Contract Administrator for Carson City and prepared a draft 

contract between the CTA and NV Consulting whereby Dunn (through NV 

Consulting) would provide services to the CTA between October 13, 2017 and 

October 13, 2018.  Dunn worked with the Carson City District Attorney’s Office 

and Board Chair Boulware to finalize the contract for presentation to the CTA 

Board. 

o. On or about September 27, 2017, Dunn established NV Consulting, LLC (“NV 

Consulting”) and filed incorporation documents with the Nevada Secretary of 

State, listing himself and his daughter as the two managing members.  

p. On October 9, 2017, the CTA Board held a public meeting and considered 

Agenda Item 10 as follows:  

Action to approve Contract No. 2017-1013, a request for professional 

services to be provided by NV Consulting LLC, for $63 per hour not to 

exceed Forty (40) hours per week to be funded from the Professional 

Services Account of the Carson City Culture & Tourism Authority, for a 

fiscal impact not to exceed $131,040 dollars.  

q. The CTA staff’s Agenda Report for Agenda Item 10 of the October 9, 2017 CTA 

Board meeting was prepared by Dunn in his capacity as the Executive Director 

of CTA and reviewed by the Carson City District Attorney’s office.  It contained 

a recommendation for the CTA Board to approve the proposed Independent 

Contractor Agreement between the CTA and NV Consulting (“Agreement”), 

which was attached to the Agenda Report.  

r. Dunn did not publicly disclose during the October 9, 2017 CTA Board meeting 

that he and his daughter were the managing members of NV Consulting and 

the fiscal impact of the contract to his pecuniary interests if the contract was 

approved. The Agenda Item was approved unanimously by the CTA Board. 

s. The Carson City District Attorney subsequently advised the CTA Board that the 

contract should be declared void as it was not awarded through competitive 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 6 of 9 

bidding.  Acting upon that advice, the CTA Board voided the contract, and as a 

result of competitive bidding, Dunn’s company was awarded a contract.  

5. TERMS / CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:  Based on the foregoing, Dunn and 

the Commission agree as follows: 

a. Each of the stipulated facts enumerated in Section 4 of this Stipulated 

Agreement is agreed to by the parties. 

b. Dunn, as a public officer, was required to commit himself to avoid conflicts 

between his private interests and those of the general public whom he served. 

NRS 281A.020.  

c. A public officer must sufficiently disclose his acceptance of a gift or loan, 

pecuniary interest, or commitment in a private capacity to the interest of another 

person that is reasonably affected by an official matter (NRS 281A.420(1)).  A 

public officer who is not a member of a public body and holds appointive office 

must make the disclosure to the supervisory head of the organization in a 

manner sufficient to inform the public of the conflict. Id. Dunn violated NRS 

281A.420(1) by failing to publicly disclose the full nature and extent of his 

pecuniary interests (and the interests of his spouse and daughter) in presenting 

and participating in matters related to the CTA Board’s adoption of retirement 

policies and a consulting contract upon his retirement.  See In re Murnane, 

Comm’n Op. No. 15-45A (2016) (Appointed public officer must disclose 

information regarding a conflict that is sufficient to inform the public body and 

public attending a public meeting.), citing In re Buck, Comm’n Op. No. 11-63C 

(2011) (A public officer must disclose the conflict “at the time the matter is 

considered” and relying on a prior disclosure fails to properly comply with NRS 

281A.420(1)). 

d. Allegations that Dunn violated NRS 281A.400(1), (2), (3) and (10), NRS 

281A.430 and 281A.550 are hereby dismissed for lack of sufficient evidence to 

support a violation by a preponderance of the evidence.  

e. Dunn’s failure to disclose his conflicts constitutes a single course of conduct 

resulting in one willful violation of the Ethics Law, implicating the provisions of 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 7 of 9 

NRS 281A.420 as interpreted and applied in accordance with the provisions of 

NRS 281A.020. 

f. Pursuant to the factors set forth in NRS 281A.775 in determining whether a 

violation is willful and the penalty to be imposed, the Commission has 

considered the following factors:  

1) Dunn has not previously violated the Ethics Law.   

2) Dunn has been diligent to cooperate with and participate in the 

Commission’s investigation and resolution of this matter. 

3) At the time of the events giving rise to the Complaint, Dunn and the CTA 

Board were being represented by the office of the Carson City District 

Attorney. 

g. However, these mitigating factors are weighed against the seriousness of 

Dunn’s conduct as measured by the public’s trust that public officers will not 

act in their official capacities in a manner that affects their personal interests 

without properly disclosing the conflicts in a manner sufficient to inform the 

public of the nature and extent of the conflict. 

h. Dunn agrees to pay a civil penalty of $5,000 pursuant to NRS 281A.790(1)(a). 

The total $5,000 penalty may be paid in one lump sum or in monthly installment 

payments, as arranged with the Commission’s Executive Director, with the final 

payment due not later than November 30, 2021. 

i. This Stipulated Agreement depends on and applies only to the specific facts, 

circumstances and law related to the Ethics Complaint now before the 

Commission. Any facts or circumstances that may come to light after its entry 

that are in addition to or differ from those contained herein may create a 

different resolution of this matter. 

j. If the Commission rejects this Stipulated Agreement, none of the provisions 

herein shall be considered by the Commission or be admissible as evidence in 

a hearing on the merits in this matter. 

6. WAIVER 

a. Dunn knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to a hearing before the full 

Commission on the allegations in Ethics Complaint Case No. 19-021C and all 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 8 of 9 

rights he may be accorded with regard to this matter pursuant to the Ethics Law 

(NRS Chapter 281A), the regulations of the Commission (NAC Chapter 281A), 

the Nevada Administrative Procedures Act (NRS Chapter 233B) and any other 

applicable provisions of law.  

b. Dunn knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to any judicial review of this 

matter as provided in NRS Chapter 281A, NRS Chapter 233B or any other 

applicable provisions of law. 

7. ACCEPTANCE: We, the undersigned parties, have read this Stipulated 

Agreement, understand each and every provision therein, and agree to be bound thereby.  

The parties orally agreed to be bound by the terms of this agreement during the regular 

meeting of the Commission on November 13, 2019.2 

 

FOR JOEL DUNN, 
 

DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT         
       Joel Dunn, 

Subject 
 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT         
       Mike Pavlakis, Esq. 

Counsel for Subject 
 
 
 
FOR YVONNE M. NEVAREZ-GOODSON, ESQ. 
Executive Director, Nevada Commission  
on Ethics 
 

 
DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT     

       Casey A. Gillham, Esq. 
       Associate Counsel 

 
 
/// 
 
/// 

                                                 
2 Subject waived any right to receive written notice pursuant to NRS 241.033 of the time and place of the 
Commission’s meeting to consider his character, alleged misconduct, professional competence, or physical 
or mental health. 



 

Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 9 of 9 

Approved as to form by: 
       FOR NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 
DATED this   day of         , 2019. DRAFT     

       Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
       Commission Counsel 
 
 
The above Stipulated Agreement is accepted by the majority of the Commission.3 
 

DATED    .
 
 
By: DRAFT By:  ABSTAIN4  
 Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. 
 Chair 

Philip K. O’Neill 
Commissioner 

By: DRAFT By:  DRAFT  
 Keith A. Weaver, Esq.       Kim Wallin, CPA 
 Vice-Chair       Commissioner 

By: DRAFT 
 Barbara Gruenewald, Esq.
 Commissioner 

 
 

                                                 
3 Commissioners Duffrin, Lowry and Yen participated in the Review Panel hearing and are therefore 
precluded from participating in this Stipulated Agreement pursuant to NRS 281A.220(4).   
4 Commissioner O’Neill disclosed that he has personal knowledge about certain facts and witness testimony 
that may be considered by the Commission in this matter.  Pursuant to Judicial Canon 2.11 and in order to 
maintain the integrity and impartiality of the proceedings, Commissioner O’Neill disqualified himself from 
any participation in this matter. 



19-021C













 

Review Panel Determination and Referral Order 
Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

 

In re Joel Dunn, Former Executive 
Director, Carson City Culture & 
Tourism Authority, State of Nevada, 
 
                                  Subject. / 

Request for Opinion No. 19-021C 
       

                   
                                                                                                              

 
REVIEW PANEL DETERMINATION 

AND REFERRAL ORDER 
NRS 281A.730; NAC 281A.440 

 
The Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) received Ethics Complaint No. 

19-021C (“Complaint”) on March 25, 2019, regarding the alleged conduct of Joel Dunn 
(“Dunn”), the former Executive Director of the Carson City Culture & Tourism Authority 
(“CTA”), in violation of the Ethics in Government Law set forth in NRS Chapter 281A 
(“Ethics Law”). The Commission instructed the Executive Director to investigate alleged 
violations of NRS 281A.400(1), (2), (3), (5), (9) and (10), NRS 281A.410(1)(b), NRS 
281A.420(1) and (3), NRS 281A.430 and NRS 281A.550(5) for Dunn’s conduct 
associated with policy changes he recommended to the CTA Board of Directors (“Board”) 
on July 11, 2017 and Contract No. 2017-1013, which Dunn presented to the Board for 
approval on October 9, 2017. 

 
Dunn is a former public employee as defined in NRS 281A.150. The Commission 

has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRS 281A.280 because the allegations 
contained in the Complaint relate to Dunn’s conduct as a former public employee and 
have associated implications under the Ethics Law. Specifically, the Complaint alleged 
that Dunn misused his public position to benefit his private pecuniary interests. 
 
 On August 5, 2019, a Review Panel (“Panel”) consisting of Commissioners Brian 
Duffrin (Presiding Officer), Teresa Lowry, Esq. and Amanda Yen, Esq., reviewed the 
following: 1) Ethics Complaint No. 19-021C; 2) Order on Jurisdiction and Investigation; 3) 
Subject’s Response to the Complaint; and 4) Executive Director’s Recommendation to 
the Review Panel with Summary of Investigatory Findings.1  
 

Under NAC 281A.430, the Panel unanimously finds and concludes that the facts 
establish credible evidence to support a determination that just and sufficient cause exists 
for the Commission to render an opinion in the matter regarding the alleged violations of 
NRS 281A.400(1), (2), (3) and (10), NRS 281A.420(1), NRS 281A.430 and NRS 
281A.550(5). 
 
/// 
 
///  

                                                 
1 All materials provided to the Panel, except the Complaint and the Order on Jurisdiction and Investigation, 
represent portions of the investigatory file and remain confidential pursuant to NRS 281A.750. 



 

Review Panel Determination and Referral Order 
Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 

However, the Panel unanimously finds and concludes that there is not just and 
sufficient cause for the Commission to render an opinion in the matter for alleged 
violations of NRS 281A.400(5) and (9), NRS 281A.410(1)(b) and NRS 281A.420(3). 
Therefore, these allegations are dismissed. 

 
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED: 
 
The Panel refers the Complaint to the Commission to render an opinion in the 

matter in furtherance of this just and sufficient cause determination.  
 

Dated this   5th   day of      August       , 2019. 
 
 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

By:  /s/ Brian Duffrin     By:  /s/ Amanda Yen    
 Brian Duffrin  Amanda Yen, Esq. 
 Commissioner/Presiding Officer 
 

 Commissioner 

By:  /s/ Teresa Lowry    
 
 

 Teresa Lowry, Esq. 
 Commissioner 

  
 

 
 
  



 

Review Panel Determination and Referral Order 
Complaint No. 19-021C 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 

  
CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

 
 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the foregoing 
REVIEW PANEL DETERMINATION AND REFERRAL ORDER via U.S. Certified Mail 
and electronic mail addressed as follows: 
 

 
 

Joel Dunn 
c/o Mike Pavlakis 
Allison MacKenzie 
402 N. Division Street 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 
 

Certified Mail No.: 9171 9690 0935 0037 6380 68 
Email: mpavlakis@allisonmackenzie.com 
Email cc: sprice@allisonmackenzie.com  
 
 

 
 Dated:  8/5/19   

 
  
Employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 







 
 

 
Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Page 1 of 2 

 

STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

In re Joel Dunn, Former Executive 
Director, Carson City Culture & 
Tourism Authority, State of Nevada, 
 
              Subject. / 

  Ethics Complaint 
Case No. 19-021C 

 

  

NOTICE OF HEARING TO CONSIDER STIPULATED AGREEMENT 
NRS 281A.745 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) will 

hold a public meeting to consider a Proposed Stipulated Agreement regarding the 
allegations submitted in Ethics Complaint No 19-021C at the following time and location: 

 
 

 When:  Wednesday, November 13, 2019 at 9:35 a.m. 
 

 Where: Nevada Legislative Building 
  401 S. Carson Street 
  Room 2134 
  Carson City, NV 89701 
 
   and via video-conference to: 
 
  Grant Sawyer State Building 
  555 E. Washington Avenue 
  Room 4412E 
  Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 
Subject has waived the personal notice requirements of NRS 241.033 (Nevada’s 

Open Meeting Law). If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement is approved, it will serve as 
the final written opinion in this matter pursuant to NRS 281A.135. 

 
 

DATED:       November 6, 2019     /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
 Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 

Commission Counsel 
  



 
 

 
Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order 

Page 2 of 2 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the Notice of 
Hearing to Consider Stipulated Agreement in Request for Opinion No. 19-021C via 
electronic mail to the Parties as follows: 
 
 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Casey A. Gillham, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 
Joel Dunn 
c/o Mike Pavlakis, Esq. 
Allison McKenzie, Ltd. 
402 N. Division St. 
P.O. Box 646 
Carson City, NV 89602 

Email:  ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
 
Email:  cgillham@ethics.nv.gov  
 
 
 
 
Email:  mpavlakis@allisonmackenzie.com 
Email cc:  sprice@allisonmackenzie.com 
 

  
 
 
DATED:    November 6, 2019          
 Employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics 



Agenda Item 5 



Date Presenter Entity Location Jurisdiction

7/10/19 YMNG NV State Board of Nursing Lake Tahoe Local

7/16/19 YMNG State of NV Div. of Insurance  Carson City State

7/19/19 YMNG NV State Board of Dental Examiners Reno Local

8/7/19 YMNG NV State Board of Dental Examiners Las Vegas Local

8/8/19 YMNG City of Las Vegas Las Vegas Local

8/8/19 YMNG
Southern NV Chapter of the International 

Code Council
Las Vegas State

8/14/19 YMNG Lake Tahoe Visitors Authority Stateline Local

8/22/19 YMNG Institute of Internal Auditors Northern NV Carson City Local

9/4/19 YMNG NV State Board of Pharmacy Reno Local

9/24/19 YMNG NV League of Cities Henderson Local

9/25/19 YMNG NV Association of Counties Sparks Local

10/21/19 YMNG Silver Springs/Stagecoach Hospital Board Silver Springs Local

10/23/19 YMNG City of N Las Vegas Las Vegas Local

10/24/19 YMNG NV State Public Charter School Authority Las Vegas Local

10/24/19 YMNG Southern NV Regional Housing Authority Las Vegas Local

11/18/19 YMNG AG Boards and Commissions Carson City Local

12/6/19 YMNG NV State Board of Medical Examiners Las Vegas Local

3/4/20 YMNG NV State Board of Accountancy Reno Local

State of Nevada                                                            

Commission on Ethics                                               

FY20 Training Information 



STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 

Meeting Dates for 2020 
(3rd Wednesday of Each Month)* 

 
January 15th  

 
February 19th 

 
March 18th 

 
April 15th  

 
May 20th  

 
June 17th  

 
July 15th  

 
August 19th  

 
September 16th  

 
October 21st  

 
November 11th* (2nd Wed.)  

 
December 9th* (2nd Wed.)   

  


	Item 4_Dunn(Public).pdf
	COMMISSION ON ETHICS




